STATE OF MICHIGAN  
IN THE COURT MICHIGAN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF MICHIGAN  
Plaintiff-Appellee,

SC No.: 159619  
COA No.: 340377  
Lower Court No. 2016-000712-FC

vs

BRAD HAYNIE  
Defendant-Appellant,

---

**BRIEF ON APPEAL**

\* \* \*

**ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED**

**Attorney Cecilia Quirindongo Baunsoe (P68374)  
Attorney for Defendant-Appellant  
39520 Woodward Ave., Suite 230  
Bloomfield Hills, MI 48304  
(248) 732-2850**

**Dated:** 11/15/2019

**

**STATEMENT OF THE QUESTIONS PRESENTED**

1. IS ASSAULT AND BATTERY A NECESSARILY INCLUDED OFFENSE OF ASSAULT WITH INTENT TO MURDER FOLLOWING COURT OF APPEALS PRECEDENT IN *PEOPLE V CORNELL*, 466 Mich 335; 646 NW2d 127 (2002) AND *PEOPLE V HANNA*, 19 Mich 316 (1869) AND WAS IT WAS ERROR FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO DENY MR. HAYNIE'S REQUEST FOR THE INSTRUCTION AS A RATIONAL VIEW OF THE FACTS OF THE CASE COULD SUPPORT A FINDING OF GUILT OF ASSAULT AND BATTERY; THEREBY ENTITLING HIM TO REVERSAL OF HIS CONVICTION AND REMAND TO THE TRIAL COURT FOR A NEW TRIAL?

Defendant-Appellant answers "YES"

Appellee answered "NO"

The trial court answered "NO"

The Court of Appeals answered "NO"

**STATEMENT OF MATERIAL PROCEEDINGS AND FACTS**

The Defendant-Appellant, Brad Haynie, was arrested and charged with one count of Assault with Intent to Murder, contrary to MCL 750.83. (See PSI).

A preliminary examination was held and the matter was bound over to the Macomb County Circuit Court. (See ROA).

Trial counsel filed a motion to Quash the bind-over which was heard and denied by the trial court in a written opinion and order dated August 16, 2016. (See ROA).

Due to Mr. Haynie's long history of mental illness, he was referred to the forensic center at the request of the People. (4/26/2016 Tr. p. 4 and 5/17/16 Tr. p. 7). Mr. Haynie was found competent to stand trial by the examiner at the Forensic Center and trial counsel stipulated to the findings. (07/28/2016 Tr. p. 4).

On November 29, 2016, retained counsel appeared for Mr. Haynie and he requested that Mr. Haynie be referred back to the Forensic Center on the issue of criminal responsibility. (11/29/16 Tr. p. 4). The matter was adjourned again. (Id. p. 5).

The matter resumed on April 24, 2017 at which time trial counsel indicated to the court that the Forensic Center had found Mr. Haynie not criminally responsible. (Id. p. 4). Counsel subsequently filed a Notice of Insanity Defense. (05/11/2017 Tr. p. 4).

Subsequent to the 05/11/2017 hearing, trial counsel had Mr. Haynie evaluated by another forensic examiner, who also found that Mr. Haynie was legally insane at time of the commission of the crime. (08/03/2017 Trial Tr. p. 91). Mr. Haynie was also examined by a neurologist who found that Mr. Haynie suffered from brain damage. (08/03/2017 Trial Tr. p. 60-63).

Trial commenced on August 01, 2017. (08/01/2017 Trial Tr.). Trial counsel objected to the introduction of certain photos, citing their gruesome nature. (Id. p. 3-4). The trial court denied the objection. (Id. p. 5).

The jury was brought up, and the court proceeded with preliminary instructions. (Id. p. 5-13). The panel was sworn in. (Id. p. 8-9). The selection of the jury proceeded. (Id. p. 13-212). The jury was sworn in and the matter was concluded for the day. (Id. p. 212-213).

The matter resumed the following day and the jury was provided with the first set of instruction. (08/03/2017 Trial Tr. p. 4-15). The parties then proceeded to opening statements. (Id. p. 15-26).

The first witness called by the People was Patricia Haynie, Mr. Haynie's Mother and the Complainant on the case. (Id. p. 27). She testified that Mr. Haynie is her Son. She further testified that he was diagnosed with paranoid schizophrenia. (Id. p. 30). She also testified that he had dyslexia but managed to graduate from high school and worked the same job at Ford for 22 years until his arrest. (Id. p. 31-32). She testified further that Mr. Haynie started drinking at age 12 and that he had a problem with alcohol. (Id. p. 32).

She further testified that in October 2015 she lived by herself. (Id. p. 33). Mr. Haynie paid for everything for her. (Id. p. 34). She would also sometimes stay overnight in Mr. Haynie's condo with him. (Id. p. 35).

She testified that on October 07, 2016 she was at the condo with Mr. Haynie who was cooking dinner for her. (Id. p. 40). She testified that Mr. Haynie was doing fine and that she did not believe he had been drinking that day. (Id. p. 41, 43). Ms. Haynie testified that her Son's mood changed after he took his new pills that he had been prescribed. (Id.

p. 46). She testified that suddenly her Son put the kitchen knife down and looked at her with a terrified look and told her that he had to save her from Lucifer. (Id.). He then attacked her. (Id. p. 46-50, 53-54). She went on to describe the injuries she received which included broken bones. (Id. p. 55-57). Lastly, Mrs. Haynie testified that her Son had never assaulted her before. (Id. p. 57).

Mrs. Haynie further testified that her Son had been hospitalized multiple times for his mental health issues. (Id. p. 64-65). Most recently he had been hospitalized for believing that he smelled bodies. (Id.). He went willingly with the police. (Id.). She further testified that her Son following an inpatient rehab stay began talking to voices. (Id.). He would also write down license plate numbers thinking he was being followed and also stay several nights in a row in hotels because he was worried the voices would hurt his Mother. (Id. p. 66). Mrs. Haynie believed this was in September 2017. (Id.).

At that time, Mr. Haynie also had beliefs that the UAW and the Free Masons were after him and he had the police come out and check his Gatorade for poison. (Id. p. 67).

Mrs. Haynie testified that the night of the incident Mr. Haynie was not acting drunk but rather out of his mind. (Id. p. 68). She again testified that he took new pills prescribed to him at Samaritan Hospital where he went just prior to going to Brighton Hospital for rehab. (Id. p. 72). About 30 minutes to an hour later he lost his mind and started talking about saving his Mother from Lucifer. (Id. p. 74-75, 76). That's when the attack started.

Mrs. Haynie believed her Son was insane. (Id. p. 78). She did not believe her Son intended to kill her, but rather save her from Lucifer. (Id. p. 79). She believed his change in mood was due to the change in medications. (Id. p. 85). She stated that he was in good spirits coming out from Samaritan but then came out a "raving lunatic" from Brighton

Hospital. (Id. p. 87-89). This was in September 2015. (Id.). After Brighton Hospital was when Mr. Haynie started hearing voices and being paranoid as described above. (Id.).

The next witness called was Deputy Cleland of the Macomb County Sheriff's Department. (Id. p. 91). He arrived first to the condo and was let in by Mrs. Haynie. (Id. p. 96). He found her injured and bloody. (Id.). Officers located Mr. Haynie in the basement. (Id. p. 99). Deputy Cleland testified that he found no evidence or signs of alcohol at the condo nor was there any signs that Mr. Haynie was intoxicated. (Id. p. 102-103).

The next witness called was Deputy Stone from the Macomb County Sherriff's Department. (Id. p. 105). He had been a detective for a year and a half. (Id.). Prior to that he was an evidence technician with the Department and he was the assigned evidence technician on the date of the incident. (Id.). He collected the evidence and took photographs of Mrs. Haynie. (Id. p. 106-116).

The next witness called was Detective Hanna. (Id. p. 120). He was the Officer in charge of the case. (Id. p. 121). The 911 tape was played for the jury. (Id. p. 125). Mr. Haynie's taped interview with the police was played for the jury. (Id. p. 126). Mrs. Haynie's medical records were also introduced. (Id. p. 130). Detective Hanna further testified that Mr. Haynie was not administered any breath test for alcohol. (Id. p. 136). The People rested. (Id. p. 138). The matter concluded for the day. (Id. p. 138).

The trial resumed the following day. 08/03/2017 Jury Trial Tr.). Defense counsel called his first witness, Dr. Iren Assar. (Id. p. 3). Dr. Assar worked at the Center for Forensic Psychiatry as a forensic psychiatrist. (Id. p. 4). After conducting a full evaluation on Mr. Haynie, Dr. Assar found that Mr. Haynie was legally insane at the time

the crime was committed and therefor that he was not criminally responsible for his acts. (Id. p. 19-24). The findings were supported by the report admitted as Exhibit B. Dr. Assar consistently testified that the delusions experienced by Mr. Haynie were consistent with mental illness and not intoxication. (Id. p. 37-38). Finally, Dr. Assar testified that out of 47 criminal responsibility examinations, 4 people were found to be legally insane. (Id. p. 48-49).

The next witness called was Dr. Emily Escott. (Id. p. 51). She was a clinical psychologist. (Id.). Through her employment she was primarily performing psychological and neuropsychological evaluations. (Id. p. 53). Dr. Escott was qualified as an expert in neuropsychological testing over no objection. (Id.). Dr. Escott's neuropsychological testing report was admitted as Exhibit D. (Id. p. 54). The testing revealed that Mr. Haynie suffered significant impairment in the areas of auditory memory as well as that of delayed memory recall. (Id. p. 57). Mr. Haynie also struggled in several areas of executive functioning. His primary deficits were: Diminished motor speed, a lack of cognitive flexibility and abstract reasoning, verbal fluency and planning and solving problems. (Id. p. 56-57).

Dr. Escott also performed a personality test on Mr. Haynie. (Id. p. 58). The results revealed his clinical scales supported the presence of disorganized thinking, confusion, perceptual disturbances, which are like delusions, hallucinations, hearing things that aren't there, seeing things that aren't there, very intense depression, potentially some suicidal ideations, some psychotic paranoia and very significant paranoia. (Id. p. 59). Dr. Escott believed that something about Mr. Haynie's brain that was either damaged or not functioning properly. (Id. p. 62).

The next witness called was Dr. Abramsky. (Id. p. 69). Dr. Abramsky was a clinical and forensic psychologist. (Id.). He testified that he works as a treatment professional and also does forensic evaluations. (Id. p. 71). He had been qualified as an expert in forensic psychology hundreds of times. (Id.). He had been qualified as an expert in forensic psychology, criminal and civil psychology. Dr. Abramsky was qualified as an expert in clinical and forensic psychology over no objection. (Id. p. 72). Dr. Abramsky's report generated on Mr. Haynie was admitted as Exhibit F. (Id.). Dr. Abramsky reviewed Dr. Escott's report prior to evaluating Mr. Haynie. (Id. p. 74). Dr. Abramsky diagnosed Mr. Haynie as mentally ill. (Id. p. 77).

Dr. Abramsky also testified that there were two components to find someone legally insane. (Id. p. 79). First that someone is mentally ill, and as a result of that illness, the person does not know the difference between right or wrong or cannot conform their behavior through requirements of the law. (Id. p. 79-80). Dr. Abramsky believed that Mr. Haynie met the criteria for legal insanity. (Id. p. 80-81, 91). He did not attribute this to black out from drinking. (Id.).

Dr. Abramsky also testified that he reviewed Dr. Assar's report and that he agreed with the findings in the report. (Id. p. 89). Dr. Abramsky believed that he had enough information to form the opinion that Mr. Haynie was legally insane at the time he committed the instant offense. (Id. p. 91). He believed that Mr. Haynie met the definition of legal insanity both legally and clinically. (Id. p. 94). The proceedings were adjourned for the day. (Id. p. 211).

The matter resumed the next day. (08/04/2018 Trial Tr.).

Trial counsel made a motion for a directed verdict which was denied by the court. (Id. p. 3-6). Trial counsel requested the jury be instructed not only on the lesser included offense of Assault with Intent to do Great Bodily Harm Less than Murder but also on aggravated assault and assault and battery. (Id. p. 8-9). The trial court denied the request. (Id. p. 9).

The trial court also denied trial counsel's request to include the second half of Jury Instruction 7.10 which allowed for an involuntary intoxication defense relating to the ingestion of drugs. (Id. p. 9-10).

The last witness called was Patricia Lunardi, Mr. Haynie's sister. (Id. p. 16). She testified that Mr. Haynie was a great help to their Mother and that he had a loving relationship with his Mother. (Id. p. 17). She testified that her Brother's mental health had gradually declined since he was 17 years old. (Id. p. 19). She saw his paranoia get worse over the past few years. (Id.). Mr. Haynie had delusions thinking his girlfriend worked for the UAW and was hired to spy on him. (Id. p. 20). He also withdrew socially. (Id. p. 20). She saw him hallucinating. (Id.). She testified that her brother had been involuntarily committed to the mental hospital. (Id. p. 23).

The parties proceeded to closing arguments. (Id. p. 28-75). The jury was instructed. (Id. p. 75-94). The jury was instructed on the charge of Assault with Intent to Murder and the lesser included offense of Assault with Intent to do Great Bodily Harm Less than Murder. The trial court did not instruct on Assault and Battery. (Id. p. 84-85). The trial court instructed on the insanity defense too. (Id. p. 85-89).

The jury returned a verdict of guilty on the lesser offense of Assault with Intent to do Great Bodily Harm Less than Murder. (Id. p. 95).

Sentencing was held on September 14, 2017. (S. Tr.).

Trial counsel objected to the scoring of OV 1 and 2. The court denied the objection. Trial counsel objected to the scoring of OV 3 at 25 points. He believed it would have been properly scored at 10 points. (Id. p. 14). Trial counsel objected to the scoring of OV 4 and the court agreed. (Id. p. 16-17). Trial counsel objected to the scoring of OV 7 at 50 points and the trial court upheld the scoring. (Id. p. 18). Lastly, trial counsel objected to the scoring of OV 10. The court agreed and scored OV 10 at 0. (Id. p. 19).

The trial court sentenced Mr. Haynie to the top of his guidelines to 67 months to 120 months in the Michigan Department of Corrections. (Id. p. 40).

Mr. Haynie appealed his conviction to the Court of Appeals. In his appeal Mr. Haynie argued two issues. First, he argued that the trial court erred in denying his request for an instruction on the misdemeanor offense of assault and battery and also that the verdict by the jury was against the great weight of the evidence. The Court of Appeals in a 2-1 published opinion dated April 16, 2019 affirmed Mr. Haynie's convictions holding in pertinent part that no error occurred when the trial court denied Mr. Haynie's request for a jury instruction of assault and battery and also that the verdict was not against the great weight of the evidence. (See Opinion and Order attached). In holding that Mr. Haynie was not entitled to the assault and battery instruction the majority relied on *People v Ora Jones*, 395 Mich 379; 236 NW2d 461 (1975) which was overturned by *People v Cornell*, 466 Mich 335; 646 NW2d 127 (2002). This latter opinion, as stated in the minority dissent, held in pertinent part that assault and battery was a necessarily included offense of assault with intent to murder and also held that the controlling law on the issue was a much older opinion; *Hanna v People*, 19 Mich 316 (1869).

Mr. Haynie filed an Application for Leave to Appeal to this Honorable Court on or about May 19, 2019. This Honorable Court granted Leave on the Application on or about October 03, 2019 on the issue of whether assault and battery is a necessarily included offense of assault with intent to murder and also the issue of whether a rational view of the facts in the instant case could support a conviction for assault and battery.

The Defendant-Appellant bases his appeal on the foregoing facts.

## **ARGUMENT I**

ASSAULT AND BATTERY IS A NECESSARILY INCLUDED OFFENSE OF ASSAULT WITH INTENT TO MURDER FOLLOWING COURT OF APPEALS PRECEDENT IN *PEOPLE V CORNELL*, 466 Mich 335; 646 NW2d 127 (2002) AND *PEOPLE V HANNA*, 19 Mich 316 (1869) AND IT WAS ERROR FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO DENY MR. HAYNIE'S REQUEST FOR THE INSTRUCTION AS A RATIONAL VIEW OF THE FACTS OF THE CASE COULD SUPPORT A FINDING OF GUILT OF ASSAULT AND BATTERY; THEREBY ENTITLING HIM TO REVERSAL OF HIS CONVICTION AND REMAND TO THE TRIAL COURT FOR A NEW TRIAL.

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Claims of instructional error are reviewed de novo. *People v Hall*, 249 Mich App 262, 269; 643 NW2d 253 (2002), remanded on other grounds 467 Mich 888 (2002), *People v Lowery*, 258 Mich App 167, 173; 673 NW2d 107 (2003).

## **PRESERVATION OF THE ISSUE**

The issue was properly preserved by Mr. Haynie requesting the jury instruction prior to the jury being instructed.

## **ANALYSIS**

A jury's verdict is presumed valid; therefore, the defendant bears the burden of showing that an instructional error was outcome-determinative. *People v Rodriguez*, 463 Mich 466, 473-474; 620 NW2d 13 (2000). An instructional error is outcome-determinative if it undermined the reliability of the verdict. *People v Cornell*, 466 Mich 335, 363-364; 646 NW2d 127 (2002); *Rodriguez*, supra at 474. The reliability of a verdict is undermined if, considering the entire case, a lesser included offense instruction that was supported by substantial evidence was not given. *Cornell*, supra at 365. Conversely,

the failure to give a lesser included offense instruction is harmless if the instruction was not clearly supported by substantial evidence. *Id.* A defendant is entitled to an instruction on a necessarily included lesser offense if a rational view of the evidence would support it; however, a defendant is not entitled to an instruction on a cognate lesser offense. *Id.* at 357, 359.

1. ASSAULT AND BATTERY IS A NECESSARILY INCLUDED OFFENSE OF ASSAULT WITH INTENT TO MURDER

The trial court erred in refusing to give an instruction on assault and battery because assault and battery is a necessarily included lesser offense of assault with intent to do great bodily harm less than murder. A necessarily included offense is one that must be committed as part of the greater offense; it would be impossible to commit the greater offense without first having committed the lesser. *People v Bearss*, 463 Mich 623, 627; 625 NW2d 10 (2001).

An instruction on a requested lesser offense should be given if (1) the lesser offense is a necessarily included lesser offense, i.e., all of its elements are contained within the elements of the charged offense, (2) conviction of the greater charged offense would require the jury to find a disputed factual element that is not part of the lesser offense, and (3) a rational view of the evidence would support conviction of the lesser offense rather than the charged offense. *People v Cornell*, 466 Mich 335, 356-359; 646 NW2d 127 (2002).

Assault and battery is a necessarily included lesser offense because a defendant who is guilty of assault with intent to do great bodily harm less than murder necessarily

first commits assault and battery. See *People v Cornell*, 466 Mich 335; 646 NW2d 127 (2002) citing *Hanna v People*, 19 Mich 316 (1869).

The elements of simple assault are as follows:

First, that the defendant either attempted to commit a battery on the complainant or did an act that would cause a reasonable person to fear or apprehend an immediate battery. A battery is a forceful, violent, or offensive touching of the person or something closely connected with the person of another.

Second, that the defendant intended either to commit a battery upon the complainant or to make the complainant reasonably fear an immediate battery.

Third, that at the time, the defendant had the ability to commit a battery, appeared to have the ability, or thought he/she had the ability.

See M Crim JI 17.1

Black's Law dictionary defines criminal assault as

“Any willful attempt or threat to inflict injury upon the person of another, when coupled with an apparent present ability to do so, and any intentional display of force such as would give the victim reason to fear or expect immediate bodily harm”. (Black’s Law Dictionary 7<sup>th</sup> Edition p. 109).

The elements of assault with intent to murder are as follows:

First, that the defendant tried to physically injure another person.

Second, that when the defendant committed the assault, he / she had the ability to cause an injury, or at least believed that he / she had the ability.

Third, that the defendant intended to kill the person he / she assaulted , and the circumstances did not legally excuse or reduce the crime.

See M Crim JI 17.3

Black’s Law Dictionary definiens assault with intent to murder as follows:

“An assault carried out with the additional criminal purpose of intending to murder”. (Black’s Law Dictionary 7<sup>th</sup> Edition p. 110).

It is clear that simple assault is either an attempt to commit a battery or an unlawful act that places another in reasonable apprehension of receiving an immediate battery. *People v Johnson*, 407 Mich 196, 210; 284 NW2d 718 (1979). “[B]attery . . . is the willful touching of the person of another by the aggressor or by some substance put in motion by him; or, as it is sometimes expressed, a battery is the consummation of the assault.” *Tinker v Richter*, 295 Mich 396, 401; 295 NW 201 (1940). This holds true for the charge of Assault with Intent to Murder as well as well as the conviction offense of Assault with Intent to do Great Bodily Harm less than Murder.

The elements of assault with intent to do great bodily harm are (1) an attempt or threat with force or violence to do corporal harm to another, i.e., an assault, and (2) an intent to do great bodily harm. *People v Parcha*, 227 Mich App 236, 239; 575 NW2d 316 (1997). Simple assault is plainly a necessarily included lesser offense of assault with intent to do great bodily harm, inasmuch as an assault is one of the elements of the greater crime.

As stated in the dissenting Opinion in the case at bar: “[I]n *Cornell*, the this Honorable Court examined this State’s lesser included offense jurisprudence, found it in disarray, and retethered the law to the language of a statute first enacted in 1846. That statutory language remains substantially similar, in relevant part, today: [U]pon an indictment for an offense, consisting of different degrees, as prescribed in this chapter, the jury, or the judge in a trial without a jury, may find the accused not guilty of the offense in the degree charged in the indictment and may find the accused person guilty of

a degree of that offense inferior to that charged in the indictment, or of an attempt to commit that offense. See MCL 768.32(1). Based on the statute, the Cornell Court concluded that a defendant is entitled to a requested instruction on a necessarily included lesser offense “if the charged greater offense requires the jury to find a disputed factual element that is not part of the lesser included offense and a rational view of the evidence would support it.” *Cornell*, 466 Mich at 357. This Court recently reaffirmed Hanna’s contribution to lesser included offense calculations, noting that “Cornell returned MCL 768.32(1) to its original construction as given by this Court in Hanna[.]” *People v Jones*, 497 Mich 155, 165; 860 NW2d 112 (2014). See *People v Haynie*, 327 Mich App; \_\_\_ NW2d \_\_\_ (2019).

*Hanna, supra* answers the question presented in this case. The Court of Appeals held that assault and battery is a lesser included offense of “assaults with various degrees of aggravation,” including assault with intent to commit murder: [A]ssaults are substantially and in effect divided by the statute into degrees; and that an indictment for any of the higher grades, or assaults with various degrees of aggravation, must include the inferior degree of simple assault; or, if the higher degree is charged, including a battery, as in the present case, the simple assault and battery are included, and that the defendant may be convicted of the included offense under this section. (Id. at 322.) This Court reaffirmed that holding in *People v Prague*, 72 Mich 178, 180; 40 NW 243 (1888), and has never retreated from it. As stated in the dissenting Court of Appeals Opinion in the case at bar, the majority directly contravenes the Court of Appeals’ opinions in *Hanna, Prague*, and *Cornell*.

Finally, both MCL 750.81 and MCL 750.83 contain the term ‘assault’, with similar definitions. The question of what meaning to give to a statute is a question of statutory interpretation. The main goal of statutory interpretation is to ascertain and give effect to the Legislature’s intent. *People v Peltola*, 489 Mich 174; 803 NW2d 140 (2011). The most reliable indicator of the Legislature’s intent is the words in the statute. (*Id.*).

To suggest that assault and battery is not a necessarily included offense of assault with intent to murder contradicts the plain language of the statutes. The words contained in the statutes are interpreted in light of their ordinary meaning and their context within the statute and are read harmoniously to give effect to the statute as a whole. (*Id.*). If the language is unambiguous and clear, the plain meaning of the statute reflects the legislative intent and judicial construction is not permitted. *People v Giovanni*, 217 Mich App 409; 722 NW2d 237 (2006). A provision is not ambiguous just because reasonable minds can differ regarding the meaning of the provision. Rather, a provision of the law is ambiguous only if it irreconcilably conflicts with another provision, or when it is equally susceptible to more than a single meaning. *People v Gardner*, 482 Mich 41; 753 NW2d 78 (2008). Here the words contained in the two statutes are identical and when interpreted in light of their ordinary meaning leads to the logical conclusion that they are meant to have the same meaning.

Therefore, in conclusion, and following set precedent by the Court of Appeals, the only logical conclusion to be drawn is that Assault and Battery is a necessarily included offense of Assault with Intent to Murder.

2. A RATIONAL VIEW OF THE FACTS OF THE CASE COULD SUPPORT A CONVICTION FOR ASSAULT AND BATTERY

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