STATE OF MICHIGAN
SUPREME COURT

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF MICHIGAN,	Supreme Court No. 159619
Plaintiff-Appellee,	Court of Appeals No. 340377
v.	Macomb Circuit No. 16-0712-FC
BRAD HAYNIE,	
Defendant-Appellant.	

PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE'S BRIEF ON APPEAL

**** ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED ****

PROOF OF SERVICE

ERIC J. SMITH (P46186)
Macomb County Prosecuting Attorney
JOSHUA D. ABBOTT (P53528)
Chief Appellate Attorney
By: EMIL SEMAAN (P73726)
Assistant Prosecuting Attorney
Attorney for Plaintiff-Appellee
Macomb County Prosecutor's Office
1 South Main Street – 3rd Floor
Mount Clemens, Michigan 48043
Ph: (586) 469-5350

CECILIA QUIRINDONGO BAUNSOE (P68374)
Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

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

ARGUMENT

A requested instruction on a necessarily included lesser offense cannot be given unless conviction for the greater offense would require the jury to "find a disputed factual element that is not part of the lesser included offense," and a rational view of the evidence would support the instruction. *People v Cornell*, 466 Mich 335, 357; 646 NW2d 127 (2002). Trial courts are not permitted to instruct juries on cognate lesser offenses, only necessarily lesser included offenses. *Id.* at 354. Cognate offenses share several elements, and are of the same class or category as the greater offense, but the cognate has some elements not found in the greater offense. *People v Mendoza*, 468 Mich 527, 532 n 4; 664 NW2d 685 (2003). Necessarily lesser included offenses, however, are proved with the same facts as the greater offense, but lack an element of

the greater offense. *Cornell*, 466 Mich at 361. In other words, a person cannot “commit the greater offense without first committing the lesser offense.” *Id.*

Here, Judge Faunce did not abuse her discretion in refusing to instruct the jury on the lesser offense of assault and battery. As indicated, such an instruction is appropriate where the lesser offense is necessarily included in the greater offense and a rational view of the evidence would support such an instruction. *Mendoza*, 468 Mich at 541. Assault and battery is a necessarily lesser included offense of Assault with Intent to Commit Murder and Assault with Intent to Do Great Bodily Harm Less Than Murder.¹ Thus, an Assault and Battery would have been appropriate if “a rational view of the evidence would support such an instruction. *Mendoza*, 468 Mich at 541. However, the evidence must be sufficient, “more than a modicum,” that the defendant could have been convicted of the lesser offense. *People v Cheeks*, 216 Mich App 470, 479-480; 549 NW2d 584 (1996). Here, as set forth in the counterstatement of facts and the Court of Appeals’ majority opinion, the Defendant’s intent was to kill or seriously injure his mother.

Indeed, the Court of Appeals stated:

At trial, Patricia testified that defendant told her that he was “going to have to twist [her] arms into knots and lift [her] up and shake [her] until he got Lucifer to let go of [her] and [her] eyes came back to normal.” Defendant then took her hands, lifted her off the couch, and shook her twice. After the second shake, defendant punched Patricia and knocked her unconscious. When Deputy Brandon Cleland arrived at defendant’s condominium, he saw that Patricia’s face was covered in blood, and he believed that she

¹ Thus, the People concede the first issue as raised by this Honorable Court.

might have crawled to the door. Patricia's head wound required 16 or 17 staples to close. Detective Anthony Stone, an evidence technician, took pictures of the scene of the assault after defendant was arrested. By the couch where Patricia was assaulted, Detective Stone photographed a metal bar that had wood on it and horseshoes on either end. The wood on the bar was "splintered," and there were "red stains" on the cracked portion of the bar. There were also bloodstains on the couch. Because of the brutality of the assault, no rational view of the evidence could support a finding of simple assault and battery. [*Haynie*, 327 Mich App at 562-563].

The Court of Appeals also responded to one of the dissent arguments by stating:

The dissent takes issue with our conclusion that "no rational view of the evidence could support a finding of simple assault and battery." However, the dissent's rationale in concluding that defendant's request for an assault and battery instruction should have been granted because a "rational view of the evidence supported it" relies solely on Patricia's belief that her son did not intend to kill or grievously wound her when he attacked her. However, Patricia's belief regarding her son's intent is irrelevant, and is contrary to her own testimony that defendant *intended* to twist her arms and shake her until "Lucifer to let go of [her.]" [*Id.* at 327 Mich App at n2].

Thus, a rational view of the evidence did not support an instruction on assault and battery.

The dissent argued that "there is no quantum of injury necessarily associated with an assault and battery. An assault and battery can result in horrific injuries, including death." *Id.* at 571. The dissent reasoned that "[r]ather than the severity of injury, what distinguishes an assault and battery from an assault with intent to commit murder is the perpetrator's intent. The

former crime requires proof that the defendant intended to commit a battery. To prove assault with intent to commit murder, the prosecutor must convince the jury that the defendant intended to kill the victim.” *Id.* at 571. The dissent, by way of example, cited to *People v Datema*, 448 Mich 585; 533 NW2d 272 (1995).

The issue in *Datema* was “whether the misdemeanor-manslaughter rule should be abandoned in light of the change in Michigan’s homicide law resulting from this Court’s opinion in *People v Aaron*, 409 Mich 672; 299 NW2d 304 (1980).” *Datema*, 448 Mich at 588. The Court held that “if an assault and battery is committed with specific intent to inflict injury and causes unintended death, the actor may be found guilty of (at least) involuntary manslaughter.” *Id.* at 608. Thus, *Datema* is not dispositive and should not even be persuasive on this issue.

While intent is the distinguishing element, the actions of the Defendant and the severity of the injuries can be probative of intent:

Because of the difficulty in proving an actor’s intent, only minimal circumstantial evidence is necessary to show that a defendant had the requisite intent. Intent to cause serious harm can be inferred from the defendant’s actions, including the use of a dangerous weapon or the making of threats. Although actual injury to the victim is not an element of the crime, injuries suffered by the victim may also be indicative of a defendant’s intent. [*People v Stevens*, 306 Mich App 620, 629; 858 NW2d 98 (2014)].

Here, the actions and injuries evince an intent greater than a simple assault. Indeed, the Defendant didn’t simply push or one-punch the victim, rather he

conducted a very brutal assault, using physical force including a weapon, and caused grievous injuries. Given the totality of these facts, it would be difficult to imagine any rational jury rendering a verdict on simple assault.

The dissent relied on the testimony of the Defendant's mother that he did not intend to cause her great bodily injury. *Haynie*, 327 Mich App at 571. However, the dissent's reliance is flawed for two reasons. First, this extremely short snapshot of the testimony does not truly reflect the testimony. Indeed, throughout her testimony, the Defendant's mother testified that the man beating wasn't her son, rather it was as though it was someone else in her son's body. She testified:

Q. And were you, obviously were you afraid?

A. Yes. He wasn't my son. My son was there, but his mind wasn't. I was terrified that he wasn't going to come back to me.

Q. And let me -- were you afraid for your life at that point?

A. No, because I knew my son would help me. He would snap out of it and help me, like he'd always done.

Q. In your terminology, did he ever snap out of it?

A. I don't -- no, because, after I bit him, he was enticed like I was that I bit him, I hurt him, and he -- I saw one big fist come at me and that's all I remember. [Tr. 8-2-17, 54].

The mother's testimony is replete with instances where she believed her son was having a mental break and that the person assaulting her was not her son and that her son would save her from the other person. (See Tr. 8-2-17, 76, 79-80).

The mother's testimony was not indicative of the Defendant's intent, rather it was her opinion as to his mental state, which leads to the second flaw

in the dissent's reliance. The mother's testimony does not establish a lesser intent of assault and battery, rather it establishes a diminished capacity. Indeed, the Defendant's mental state is what complicates the issue regarding intent and whether a rational view of the evidence supports the assault and battery instruction.

In *People v Carpenter*, 464 Mich 223, 232; 627 NW2d 276 (2001), our Supreme Court examined the continuing validity of the "so-called 'diminished capacity' defense," which allowed a defendant, "even though legally sane, to offer evidence of some mental abnormality to negate the specific intent required to commit a particular crime." This Court rejected the continuing validity of the diminished capacity defense and held that "the insanity defense as established by the Legislature is the sole standard for determining criminal responsibility as it relates to mental illness or retardation." *Id.* at 239. Indeed, the *Carpenter* Court stated:

[W]e agree with the prosecution that our Legislature, by enacting the comprehensive statutory framework described above, has already conclusively determined when mental incapacity can serve as a basis for relieving one from criminal responsibility. We conclude that, through this framework, the Legislature has created an all or nothing insanity defense. Central to our holding is the fact that the Legislature has already contemplated and addressed situations involving persons who are mentally ill or retarded yet not legally insane. As noted above, such a person may be found "guilty but mentally ill" and must be sentenced in the same manner as any other defendant committing the same offense and subject to psychiatric evaluation and treatment. MCL 768.36(3). *Through this statutory provision, the Legislature has demonstrated its policy choice that evidence of mental incapacity short of insanity cannot be used to avoid or reduce criminal*

responsibility by negating specific intent. [*Id.* at 237, emphasis added.]

Thus, a defendant may still offer testimony on his or her mental disorder or limited mental capabilities if offered for a purpose other than to avoid or reduce criminal responsibility by negating the intent element of an offense.

Here, allowing for an instruction on assault and battery is akin to saying that the Defendant's intent was negated by his mental illness. The only element that all the parties and courts seem to agree is in dispute is the Defendant's intent. The only evidence that truly distinguishes this element is the Defendant's mental state. However, *Carpenter* was clear that mental illness cannot reduce or negate the intent element. Unless this Court is considering overruling *Carpenter*, which would require more extensive briefings by the parties, the determination of whether a rational view of the evidence supports the lesser charge of assault and battery must be done without regards to the Defendant's mental state or illness. This begs the question of whether any defendant, mental state omitted, would be entitled to the instruction given the facts of the assault in this case. The answer must be no. Thus, Judge Faunce did not abuse her discretion in deciding not to instruct the jury on this lesser offense.

RELIEF REQUESTED

Given the foregoing, Plaintiff respectfully urges this Honorable Court to **AFFIRM** the Defendant's conviction.

Respectfully Submitted,

ERIC J. SMITH (P46186)
Prosecuting Attorney

JOSHUA D. ABBOTT (P53528)
Chief Appellate Attorney

By: Emil Semaan

EMIL SEMAAN (P73726)
Assistant Prosecuting Attorney

DATED: December 23, 2019